APPEAL NO. 32612

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

CHARLESTON

THORNTON COOPER,

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

A. INTRODUCTION.

There is a stipulated evidentiary record below. The parties filed the first Joint Stipulation of Facts (JSF) and the Supplemental Joint Stipulation of Facts (SJSF) and therewith also filed, and stipulated to, Joint Exhibits Nos. 1-37. References to paragraphs in those stipulations list the stipulation (JSF or SJSF) first and then the paragraph number. For example, in this Statement of Facts, Paragraph No. 21 of the first Joint Stipulation of Facts would be abbreviated as "JSF-21".

B. INFORMATION ABOUT THE PARTIES.

Thornton Cooper is a resident of, taxpayer in, and voter in, Kanawha County, West Virginia. (JSF-1) Mr. Cooper is neither a resident of, nor a voter in or of, the City

of Charleston. He is neither the owner of, nor the lessee of, any real estate that is located within the corporate limits of the City of Charleston. (JSF-4)

The Defendant is a municipal corporation the corporate limits of which are wholly located within Kanawha County, West Virginia, and is also the state capital. (JSF-2) The City of South Charleston is another municipal corporation the corporate limits of which are wholly located within Kanawha County. (JSF-3)

Mr. Cooper is a resident of, and a voter in and of, the City of South Charleston. He is the owner and occupant of real estate that is located within its corporate limits. (JSF-5) During the 168 hours in a week, Mr. Cooper spends an average of about 70% of his time within the corporate limits of the City of South Charleston, an average of about 25% of his time within the corporate limits of the City of Charleston, and an average of about 5% of his time elsewhere. (JSF-6) As an employee of the Public Service Commission of West Virginia, an agency of the State of West Virginia, Mr. Cooper works at its offices within the corporate limits of the City of Charleston. (JSF-7)

C. DISCUSSION OF FEES IN EFFECT IN SOUTH CHARLESTON, HUNTINGTON, AND CHARLESTON AS OF AUGUST 2003.

Pursuant to W. Va. Code § 8-13-13, the City of South Charleston imposes two (2) different fees upon its residents and upon the owners and/or lessees of certain real estate located within its corporate limits. (JSF-10)

One type of fee that is imposed by a city ordinance, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 8-13-13, by the City of South Charleston, upon its residents and upon owners and/or lessees of real estate located within its corporate limits, is called the "municipal service fee". For the owners of single-family dwellings, the current fee is \$100.00 per household per year, billed quarterly. The billings for this fee are mailed to the property

owners and recite that the fee covers the collection of solid waste, street repairs and maintenance, and other city services. A copy of a billing that the City of South Charleston mailed to Mr. Cooper for this fee in 2003 is included in the joint exhibits as Joint Exhibit No. 1. (JSF-11)

The city ordinance by which South Charleston's "municipal service fee" is imposed is set forth in Article 745 of the South Charleston City Code. A copy of that ordinance is included in the Joint Exhibits as Joint Exhibit No. 2. (JSF-12) During the fiscal year running from July 1, 2004, through June 30, 2005, the City of South Charleston plans to raise about \$610,000 in revenue through this fee. (JSF-13)

The above \$100.00-per-household-per-year "municipal service fee" imposed by the City of South Charleston is quite similar to a \$25.00-per-household-per-year "emergency ambulance service fee" that was imposed in 1991 upon Clay County households by the County Commission of Clay County. This Honorable Court upheld the constitutionality of that Clay County fee in Clay County Citizens for Fair Taxation v. Clay County Comm'n, 192 W. Va. 408, 452 S.E.2d 724 (1996).

The other South Charleston fee that is imposed, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 8-13-13, upon its residents and upon owners and/or lessees of real estate located within its corporate limits, is called the "sewer fee" or "sanitary fee". This fee is billed and imposed separately by the Sanitary Board of South Charleston and is based upon water usage. The billings for this fee are mailed to customers on a monthly basis. A copy of a billing that the Sanitary Board of South Charleston mailed to Mr. Cooper for this fee in 2003 is included in the Joint Exhibits as Joint Exhibit No. 3. (JSF-14)

On the other hand, the City of Charleston, during 2003, was imposing three (3) separate fees, pursuant to W. Va. Code § 8-13-13, upon its residents and upon owners and/or lessees of real estate located within its corporate limits. These fees are called the "sewer fee", the "fire fee", and the "refuse fee". The sewer fee is based upon water usage. The fire fee is based, at least in part, upon the square footage of a building. The refuse fee appears to be based upon housing units. A combined bill for all three (3) of these fees, to the extent that they apply, is mailed to the owner or lessee of real estate on a monthly basis. A copy of part of a billing for these fees that the City of Charleston mailed in 2003 to the Appellant's elder son, Jeremy B. Cooper, who rented an apartment in that city during the summer of 2003, is included in the Joint Exhibits as Joint Exhibit No. 4. (JSF-15)

In addition to receiving revenues from the fees described above, both the City of Charleston and the City of South Charleston also receive revenues from other fees, such as fees for parking or for use of recreational facilities, that are based upon actual, consensual use of city property, from ad valorem taxes on real and personal property, and from municipal business and occupation taxes, as well as other sources. (JSF-16)

The City of Huntington enacted a "user-fee" ordinance on November 28, 2000. A copy of that ordinance is included as Joint Exhibit No. 5. That ordinance was struck down by a court order entered on May 25, 2001. A copy of that order is included as Joint Exhibit No. 6. (JSF-20)

The City of Huntington enacted a second "user-fee" ordinance on June 14, 2002. A copy of that ordinance is included as Joint Exhibit No. 7. That ordinance imposed a "fee" of \$1.00 per calendar week upon "any person who is employed within the City and

meets the requirements of a user of municipal services as defined" in the ordinance. (Joint Exhibit No. 7, p. 4) That ordinance was upheld by a court order entered on July 26, 2002. A copy of that order is included as Joint Exhibit No. 8. (JSF-20)

On March 24, 2003, the City of Huntington amended its ordinance of June 14, 2002, to increase the "fee" in question to \$2.00 per calendar week and to remove one sunset provision contained in the ordinance of June 14, 2002. A copy of the ordinance of March 24, 2003, is included as Joint Exhibit No. 29. (JSF-64)

D. OPTIONS AVAILABLE TO THE CITY OF CHARLESTON AS IT CONSIDERED A NEW "FEE" ORDINANCE IN 2003.

In August 2003, newspaper articles indicated that Danny Jones, the Mayor of the City of Charleston, wanted its City Council to enact an ordinance imposing a new municipal "fee", effective January 1, 2004, in the amount of \$1.00 per week, on individuals working within the corporate limits of the City of Charleston. (Joint Exhibit No. 34) It has been projected that the "fee" in question would generate between \$2,500,000 and \$3,000,000 per year for the City. (JSF-19) It was Mr. Cooper's understanding that proceeds from this "fee" were to be used to fund street maintenance and the hiring of additional police officers.

However, the City of Charleston could have generated the same amount of revenue, in a manner that was consistent with Clay County Citizens, by imposing a per-household fee similar to that imposed by the City of South Charleston. According to figures from the United States Census in 2000, the City of Charleston has a population of 53,421 and a total of 27,131 housing units; the City of South Charleston has a population of 13,390 and a total of 6,770 housing units; and the City of Huntington (located in Cabell and Wayne Counties) has a population of 51,475 and a total of

25,888 housing units. (JSF-17) To raise an extra \$2,500,000 per year on a pure flat-rate-per-month basis from the owners, or lessees, of its 27,131 housing units, the City Council of the City of Charleston (the "City Council") could have imposed a new fee at the rate of \$7.68 per housing unit per month. $27,131 \times 12 \times \$7.68 = \$2,500,393$.

Unfortunately, the Defendant decided to follow the City of Huntington's example.

E. EVENTS RELATING TO THE PASSAGE OF A NEW "FEE" ORDINANCE BY THE CITY OF CHARLESTON IN SEPTEMBER 2003.

On Monday, August 18, 2003, a bill, designated Bill No. 7002, to impose on individuals working in Charleston a "fee" similar to that imposed by the City of Huntington, was introduced by Edward Talkington, a member of the City Council, and was referred to the Finance Committee of that governing body. A copy of that bill, as introduced (hereinafter referred to in its introduced version as the "Talkington Bill"), is included as Joint Exhibit No. 9. (JSF-21)

Following the introduction of Bill No. 7002, the Charleston City Clerk's Office prepared a legal notice of a public hearing on that bill. Joint Exhibit No. 10 is a copy of the legal advertisement that was published in the Charleston Gazette on Thursday, September 4, 2003. (JSF-22) The first part of the first sentence in that notice read as follows:

Pursuant to Chapter 8, Section 13, Article 13, of the West Virginia Code notice is given that a Public Hearing will be held at a regular meeting of Council, on Tuesday, September 2, 2003 at 7:00 p.m., in the Council Chambers, City Hall, Charleston, West Virginia, on Bill No. 7002. . . [emphasis added]

The legal notice contained in Joint Exhibit No. 10 was published in Charleston newspapers on the following two (2) dates: Thursday, August 28, 2003, and Thursday, September 4, 2003. (JSF-23) Therefore, an individual who read the legal notice that

was published in the Charleston Gazette on Thursday, September 4, 2003, would probably have concluded that the hearing in question had already taken place on Tuesday, September 2, 2003.

Indeed, a regularly scheduled City Council meeting had been held on Tuesday, September 2, 2004. However, no individual signed up to speak at the meeting on the proposed "fee". (SJSF-2) Neither the Talkington Bill nor the proposed "fee" was discussed at that meeting. (Joint Exhibit No. 33)

Other than the legal notice published on August 28, 2003, and September 4, 2003, the Defendant did not cause to be published in any newspaper another legal notice pertaining to the "subject bill". (Defendant's Answer to Paragraph No. 38 of Mr. Cooper's Complaint.)

Another regularly scheduled City Council meeting was held on Monday, September 15, 2003. (JSF-24)

After speaking with a newspaper reporter and with several employees of the City of Charleston, Mr. Cooper was informed that he might be permitted to speak at a brief public hearing on the evening of September 15, 2003, immediately before the City Council was to take action on either the Talkington Bill or on a committee substitute for that bill. (JSF-26) Mr. Cooper was opposed to the Talkington Bill for a number of reasons. For example, he believed that it would impose an illegal and regressive municipal capitation tax of \$1.00 per head per week on most individuals who worked within the corporate limits of the City of Charleston.

Mr. Cooper, along with a few other individuals, was permitted to speak briefly against the Talkington Bill at the public hearing that was held on Monday evening,

September 15, 2003. In addition, Mr. Cooper submitted a three-page letter, dated September 15, 2003, in opposition to the Talkington Bill. A copy of that letter is included as Joint Exhibit No. 11. (JSF-27)

According to W. Va. Code § 8-11-4(a)(3), a "proposed ordinance shall not be materially amended at the same meeting at which finally adopted." Nevertheless, on September 15, 2003, the City Council made many changes to the Talkington Bill before passing an amended version of Bill No. 7002 at the same meeting.

Prior to the commencement of the meeting of City Council on Monday evening, September 15, 2003, the Finance Committee of that governing body met, during the afternoon of that day, and reported out to the City Council, with a recommendation that it do pass, a committee substitute for the Talkington Bill. A copy of that committee's report, along with the changes that it recommended to the Talkington Bill (Bill No. 7002) is included as Joint Exhibit No. 12. After making the changes, reflected in Joint Exhibit No. 12, to the Talkington Bill, the Finance Committee, during the afternoon of Monday, September 15, 2003, reported the committee substitute for the Talkington Bill to the full City Council. (JSF-28) A copy of the resulting "Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002" is included as Joint Exhibit No. 13. (JSF-29)

At its meeting during the evening of Monday, September 15, 2003, at which Mr. Cooper spoke, the City Council amended the Talkington Bill by voting to substitute Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002 in its place and by finally adopting that committee substitute at the same meeting. (JSF-30)

The Defendant never caused to be published in any newspaper a legal notice containing the text of Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002. (JSF-25)

F. ROLE OF THE STATE AUDITOR'S OFFICE IN WITHHOLDING PAY FROM STATE EMPLOYEES AND IN REPORTING THEIR SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBERS TO TAXING AUTHORITIES.

In West Virginia, the State Auditor's Office actually performs the withholding and paycheck-drafting (or direct bank depositing of pay) work for state agencies. The Auditor's Office also remits to the Internal Revenue Service and the State Tax Commissioner the respective funds that have been withheld from employee paychecks (or direct-deposit pay) for federal and state income tax. (JSF-31) Once each year, the State Auditor's Office also prepares Forms W-2 and W-3 with respect to each state employee and submits those forms to the Social Security Administration. A copy of a blank Form W-2 is included as Joint Exhibit No. 14. A copy of a blank Form W-3 is included as Joint Exhibit No. 15. Each Form W-2 contains the Social Security number of the applicable state employee. State employees are required to attach copies of the applicable Form W-2 to their federal and state income tax returns. (JSF-32)

For employers that are not state agencies, a similar procedure is followed; however, the employer itself (and not the State Auditor) is responsible for the withholding, the paycheck-drafting, the remitting of the funds, and the submitting of forms. (JSF-33)

G. EVENTS BETWEEN THE PASSAGE OF THE ORDINANCE AND THE FILING OF THE CIVIL ACTIONS BELOW.

Following the passage of Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002, Mr. Cooper concluded that provisions of the newly adopted ordinance purported to require the State Auditor's Office (a) to withhold the "fee" from Mr. Cooper's pay and to remit that withheld amount to the Defendant and (b) to release Mr. Cooper's Social Security number to the Defendant. Because he believed these provisions to be unlawful, Mr. Cooper

repeatedly requested that Mr. Gainer's office neither withhold the "fee" nor release Social Security numbers of state employees to the City.

On or about December 10, 2003, Mr. Cooper received a letter, dated December 8, 2003, from Mr. Gainer in response to letters from Mr. Cooper that were dated September 22, 2003, and November 29, 2003. In his reply letter, Mr. Gainer stated, "In response to your concerns, please be advised that the Auditor's Office has no intention of releasing social security numbers; however, we do intend to comply with the remittance provisions of the law". A copy of that letter is included as Joint Exhibit No. 18. (JSF-36)

During late autumn of 2003, the municipal code of the City of Charleston was in the process of being recodified. The effective date of the recodification was to be on or about November 21, 2003. (JSF-37) As a result of the recodification, the "City Service Fee" ordinance was moved from Chapter 6 to Chapter 2 of the Charleston City Code. A copy of the recodified ordinance is included as Joint Exhibit No. 19. (JSF-38) That ordinance, as so recodified, shall sometimes be referred to as the "2003 ordinance".

On or about December 1, 2003, Mr. Cooper obtained copies of regulations and forms that had been issued to implement the ordinance of September 15, 2003. A copy of the regulations promulgated by the Charleston City Collector's Office to implement that ordinance is included as Joint Exhibit No. 16. (JSF-34) Copies of the five (5) related forms – Form CSF-1 (Prior Payment Form), Form CSF-2 (Employer Remittance Form), Form CSF-3 (Self-Employed Remittance Form), Form CSF-4 (Employer Worksheet), and Form CSF-5 (Refund Claim Form) – are collectively included as Joint Exhibit No. 17. (JSF-35).

On January 14, 2004, Mr. Cooper delivered to the office of Charleston City Collector Kenneth Guthrie a letter, bearing that date, requesting that Mr. Guthrie's office "neither attempt to obtain the Social Security number of any state employee nor attempt to divert to the City any money from the pay of any state employee, unless the employee first gives you written and signed permission to do so." In that letter, Mr. Cooper also stated that he would "attempt to require the City to refund to me any money that it may, in the short run, succeed in diverting from my pay, whether or not the City chooses to maintain records as to the diversion of money from my pay to the City." A copy of that letter is included as Joint Exhibit No. 20. (JSF-39)

Notwithstanding Mr. Cooper's requests to Mr. Gainer and to Mr. Guthrie, the Auditor's Office began, in January 2004, to withhold the "fee" from the direct deposit of Mr. Cooper's net pay into his bank. Mr. Cooper is paid twice per month. The sum of \$2.16 was withheld from his pay on each of the following pay dates: January 16, 2004, and January 30, 2004, as well as twice per month thereafter. The pay stub from the Auditor's Office for each of those pay periods has described the withholding for the Charleston "user fee" as follows: "CITY CHAS—USERF \$2.16" (JSF-40)

H. FILING OF THE CIVIL ACTIONS BELOW AND SUBSEQUENT PROCEDURAL HISTORY.

On January 20, 2004, Mr. Gainer filed a complaint for declaratory relief against the City in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. That case was assigned Civil Action No. 04-C-122. On February 23, 2004, Mr. Cooper also filed a complaint for declaratory and injunctive relief against the City in the Circuit Court of Kanawha County. That case was assigned Civil Action No. 04-C-408. In his complaint, Mr. Cooper set forth seventeen (17) separate causes of action. The two cases were eventually assigned to

the Honorable Judge James C. Stucky, who granted Mr. Cooper's motion to consolidate them. After extensive negotiations, the parties filed written stipulations and dozens of joint exhibits that resolved all material issues of fact in these cases in anticipation of oral argument on June 9, 2004, before Judge Stucky.

During the pendency of the proceedings, the Circuit Court, on May 18, 2004, entered an agreed order that required the Clerk of the Circuit Court to hold "fee" payments with respect to state employees in an interest-bearing escrow account pending the Court's resolution of issues raised by Mr. Gainer.

However, also on May 18, 2004, in a last-minute effort to avoid certain arguments raised by Mr. Cooper with respect to the procedure and notice under which the City Council had adopted Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002 on September 15, 2003, a member of the City Council introduced Bill No. 7070. Bill No. 7070 was virtually identical to the recodified version of Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002, except that Bill No. 7070 acted retroactively to January 1, 2004, while Committee Substitute for Bill No. 7002, as recodified, had only operated prospectively. Although it provided preadoption notice to the public of proposed Bill No. 7070, the Defendant did not provide postadoption notice to the public of Bill No. 7070.

On Monday evening, June 7, 2004, the City Council adopted Bill No. 7070. That ordinance shall sometimes be referred to as the "2004 ordinance". A copy of the 2004 ordinance was later presented to the Circuit Court.

On Wednesday morning, June 9, 2004, the parties offered oral argument on the issues in these cases, including arguments relating to a motion for partial summary

judgment recently filed by the City with respect to the issues purportedly "mooted" by the passage of Bill No. 7070, just two (2) days before that oral argument.

On June 28, 2004, the Circuit Court entered its "Final Order" in these cases. In that order of June 28, 2004, the Circuit Court explicitly or implicitly ruled against the Plaintiffs on all issues that they had raised with respect to the fee ordinance(s) in question, with one exception: The Circuit Court did agree with the Plaintiffs that making the State of West Virginia liable for the debts of its employees was unconstitutional.

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