**APPEAL NO. 32612**

**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA**

**CHARLESTON**

**I. INTRODUCTION AND STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

Thornton Cooper, a lawyer who is also a *pro se* litigant, challenges the lower court's decision to uphold Charleston's 2003 service fee ordinance ("ordinance") that was designed to provide funds for police protection and street maintenance services provided to individuals employed within the City. In his thirty-page, seventeen-count Complaint for Declaratory and Injunctive Relief, Appellant Cooper raised both procedural and substantive challenges to the ordinance.

The Circuit Court of Kanawha County, after a complete hearing of all evidence presented by the parties in open court, extensive briefs, and arguments of counsel, entered a Final Order with extensive findings of fact and conclusions of law denying the relief requested in Appellant Cooper's Motion for Summary Judgment. The Circuit Court rejected Cooper's procedural causes of action as moot and upheld the ordinance as valid

and constitutional except for the portions of the ordinance that might render the State liable for the debts of State employees. (Final Order at p. 10.)

Cooper now appeals from that order, asking this Court to invalidate the ordinance both on the moot procedural grounds and on substantive grounds. Cooper requests that this Court disregard the Circuit Court's extensive findings<sup>1</sup>, reject the Charleston City Council's determinations, and invalidate the ordinance as being "imprudent and inequitable." (Appellant's Initial Brief.)<sup>2</sup>

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

Led by elected municipal authorities including the Mayor and the twenty-seven-member City Council, Charleston's municipal government provides services benefitting individuals who reside, work, and visit there. To pay for these services, Charleston imposes several separate taxes and fees.

Prior to September 2003, Charleston did not charge a separate fee for police protection and street maintenance services. Instead, Charleston paid the entire cost of providing these services out of the general municipal revenues raised by authorized taxes.

In September 2003, Charleston City Council adopted the ordinance, patterned after the an earlier ordinance passed by Huntington's City Council. The Charleston ordinance declares that being employed within the City is evidence of use of municipal services and

---

<sup>1</sup>In Appellant's 13-page Statement of Facts, Mr. Cooper chose to ignore the Circuit Court's extensive factual findings.

<sup>2</sup>The ordinance was initially challenged by State Auditor, Glen B. Gainer, III, but the Auditor chose not to appeal the Circuit Court's decision. This Court, pursuant to a motion previously made by the Auditor, removed the Auditor's name from the title of this Appeal.

exacts a one dollar per week charge on each employee and self-employed person working within the City limits. In enacting the ordinance, City Council made the following specific findings:

- (a) The City provides to all individuals within its borders certain services, whether they are resident employed within the City, or individuals living outside the City and employed within the corporate boundaries of the City.
- (b) Such services provide police protection and traffic and street maintenance and other valuable services associated with the police department and public works department.
- (c) Such services are within the authority and are the responsibility of the municipal government of the City of Charleston as provided under the laws of the State of West Virginia.
- (d) Such services are essential to the creation and maintenance of those jobs which provide livelihood to all individuals employed within the City, as well as to the property interests of residents and visitors to the City, it is therefore, reasonable to derive a portion of the cost of providing and maintaining such services from said individuals.
- (e) West Virginia Code 8-13-13 provides that every municipality has the plenary power and authority to provide by ordinance for the installation, continuance, maintenance or improvement of such services, to make reasonable regulations with respect thereto, and to impose by ordinance upon the users of such services reasonable rates, fees and charges to be collected in the manner prescribed in the ordinance.

- (f) All of those individuals, who use, enjoy and benefit from these services, should bear an equitable share of the costs thereof.
- (g) The imposition of the City Service Fee established herein is a reasonable system of distributing the costs to all of the users that the City can reach through reasonable and prudent means and legislation.
- (h) The Legislature of the State of West Virginia has conferred upon municipalities the plenary power to enact reasonable administrative provisions to ensure the efficient, orderly and equitable implementation and collection of the service fees from all users.
- (i) It is in the best interests of the citizens of the City of Charleston and the users of City services to enact . . . a City Service Fee.
- (j) Tens of thousands of individuals . . . benefit from municipal services who are not owners of property or residents of the City of Charleston, but who are employed within the City.

(Chas. Code § 6-203.)

Moreover, the ordinance states:

[a]ll revenues generated by the City Service Fee imposed herein are hereby dedicated to and shall be used exclusively for police protection and street maintenance and public works projects related thereto, and any costs related to the imposition and processing of this fee.

(Chas. Code § 6-214.)

The Circuit Court found that, prior to passage of the ordinance, the Charleston Chief of Police advised City Council that, based upon his years of experience in law enforcement, “Resident and nonresident individuals who regularly work in Charleston are substantial, ongoing users of the Department’s public safety services.” (Final Order at p. 4.) Additionally, the Director of Public Works for the City, advised City Council prior to passage of the ordinance that, “significant use [of the streets by workers in the City] fosters street maintenance services undertaken by the Public Works Department.” (Id.) Moreover, the record reflects that a relatively large percentage (37%) of reported criminal incidents investigated by the Charleston Police Department involve nonresidents.

The City’s 2005 fiscal year budget expends over \$19 million combined on police protection and street maintenance services. (Final Order at p. 5.) The City estimated collections of approximately \$2.5 million from the service fee for the same period. Id. Accordingly, the service fee financed approximately 12.7% of the overall cost of police protection and street maintenance services provided the City.

### **III. RESPONSES TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

The City responds to Appellant Cooper’s Assignments of Error as follows:

1. The Circuit Court correctly found that Cooper’s procedural criticisms of the notice provided by the City prior to passage of the ordinance were mooted when the Council re-passed the ordinance. The Circuit Court correctly found that the City complied with all procedural and notice requirements upon re-passage of the ordinance.

2. The Circuit Court correctly found that, pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 as interpreted by this Court, the City was not required to provide yet another notice of the ordinance after it was adopted.

3. The Circuit Court correctly found that the effective date of the re-enacted ordinance is valid. Generally, there is no rule against retroactive legislation unless it interferes with contract or vested rights.

4. The Circuit Court correctly found that the City's ordinance is valid because it falls squarely with the plenary power afforded municipalities. West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 does not require that municipalities limit their service fees to individuals who own or occupy real property within City limits.

5. The Circuit Court correctly upheld the ordinance, finding that the Plaintiffs failed to meet their burden of proving the ordinance clearly unreasonable. The Circuit Court found that the ordinance reasonably serves the purpose for which it was enacted, to pay costs associated with providing police protection and street maintenance services to individuals employed within the City of Charleston. Perfect equity is not the test.

6. The Circuit Court correctly found that the City's ordinance does not impose a prohibited tax. The Circuit Court correctly found that the primary purpose of the service fee is to cover the expense of providing a service. All revenues generated by the ordinance shall be used exclusively for police protection and street maintenance and public works projects related thereto and, as such, will not be used to fund unrelated governmental functions or services.

7. The Circuit Court correctly found that the service fee is appropriate and valid and is only imposed to cover expenses of providing street maintenance and police protection services.

8. The Circuit Court appropriately held that the ordinance's administrative provisions do not deny access to the courts.

9. The Circuit Court correctly found that collection procedures and regulations in the ordinance are appropriate and within the Legislature's grant of plenary authority under West Virginia Code § 8-13-13. The City of Charleston's decision to collect the service fee through a withholding process from employers as a class is reasonably within the powers granted in the statute.

10. The Circuit Court correctly held that the ordinance and accompanying regulations and forms do not authorize improper or illegal disclosure of employees' Social Security Numbers. Regulations requiring employers to keep and maintain certain information including employee's Social Security Numbers is not a violation of any Federal or State statute and is within the powers granted in West Virginia Code § 8-13-13.

11. The Circuit Court correctly found that the ordinance may properly require State agencies as well as private employers to withhold the service fee and such administrative procedures are within the powers granted in West Virginia Code § 8-13-13.

12. The Circuit Court properly found that there is no prohibition against making private employers responsible for the payment of service fees on behalf of their employees. This administrative regulation is fully within the powers granted in West Virginia Code § 8-13-13.

13. The Circuit Court properly found that the ordinance does not violate equal protection, uniform taxation, or due process guarantees. The elected governing body's classification of employees and self-employed persons working regularly within the City as "users" of the City's street maintenance and police protection services is reasonable and rational and does not result in a prohibited double assessment against resident employees.

#### **IV. AUTHORITY AND DISCUSSION OF LAW**

##### **A. Charleston's Original Notice was Proper and, Moreover, Appellant Cooper's Criticism of the City's Notice is Moot as the City Reenacted the Ordinance in Accordance with This Court's Interpretation of West Virginia Code § 8-13-13.**

While the City maintains that its original publication of notice concerning the ordinance was appropriate and fully in compliance with West Virginia Code § 8-13-13, it is not necessary for this Court to reach the notice issues because the City has reenacted the ordinance. The City's second legal advertisement contained all of the items which Appellant Cooper contended below should be in the notice, and, therefore, the procedural challenges to the ordinance are moot. Further, the City provided pre-adoption notice of

the ordinance which is the only notice required by West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 as interpreted by this Court.

**1. The procedural challenges to Bill No. 7002 are moot and should not be considered.**

In Velogol v. City of Weirton, 212 W.Va. 687, 575 S.E.2d 297 (2002), this Court held that courts will generally not decide a moot question. Syl. pt. 1, Velogol, 212 at 687, 575 S.E.2d at 297. In Velogol, the City of Weirton passed a police and fire service fee pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8-13-13. Id. Citizens filed a declaratory judgment action challenging that fee both on procedural (notice) grounds and on substantive grounds. Id. The circuit court, after holding an evidentiary hearing in July of 2001, upheld the ordinance, but the plaintiffs appealed. 212 W.Va. at 688, 575 S.E.2d at 298. While the appeal was pending, in September of 2002, Weirton amended and reenacted its ordinance, curing both the alleged substantive and procedural defects. 212 W.Va. at 688, 575 S.E.2d at 298. This Court found that the issues presented in the appeal were rendered moot by the amendment and reenactment of the ordinance. 212 W.Va. at 689, 575 S.E.2d at 299. This Court further found that the City of Weirton was entitled to retain the fees collected under the original ordinance because the amended ordinance was made retroactive. Id. at fn. 3.

In the case at bar, just as in Velogol, the procedural challenges are rendered moot, i.e., are reduced to abstract propositions, by the City's reenactment of the ordinance. While the Charleston does not believe it is required by West Virginia Code § 8-13-13, the

City included in the notice of Bill No. 7070 (the re-enacted ordinance) all of the items which Cooper contended in his Complaint should be included in the notice: the date of a public hearing on the proposed ordinance, that portion of West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 that outlines the rights of citizens to gather signatures for a petition to force a referendum, and a full text of the ordinance to be considered. Therefore, all of Cooper's procedural challenges to the original ordinance (the same allegations contained in Cooper's first assignment of error) are moot, and it would be "an exercise in futility for this Court to undertake an analysis" of the ordinance as originally enacted. *See, Velogol*, 212 W.Va. at 689, 575 S.E.2d at 299.

- 2. West Virginia Code § 8-13-13, as interpreted by this Court, does not require post-adoption notice, and, as such, the City complied with all existing procedural requirements.**

The City, in re-passing the ordinance, followed the guidance provided by this Court that specified that publication of ordinances passed pursuant to West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 should be accomplished in advance of the passage of the ordinance.

Specifically, in *Nine v Grant Town*, 190 W.Va. 86, 87, 437 S.E.2d 250, 251 (1993), this Court held that:

Because W.Va. Code, 8-13-13 (1971), is silent as to when publication should be made with regard to the adoption of an ordinance, the general rule is that publication should be done in advance of the passage of the ordinance.

Syl. Pt. 1, Id. Therefore, it is appropriate for this Court to uphold the lower court's ruling and reject Appellant Cooper's procedural challenge to the City's re-passage of the user fee ordinance.<sup>3</sup>

**3. The Circuit Court correctly ruled that the City of Charleston's reenactment of the ordinance was valid and could be applied as of the original effective date.**

As this Court noted in Velogol, "Generally, there is no rule against retroactive legislation unless it interferes with contract or vested rights." Velogol, 212 W.Va. at 689, 575 S.E.2d at 299 (citing McQuillan, *The Law of Municipal Corporations*, Section 20.70 (3d Ed. 1998), internal quotations omitted). Revenue or tax laws that are retroactive do not constitute a deprivation of property without due process. Unites States v. Hemme, 476 U.S. 558, 106 S.Ct. 2071, 90 L.Ed.2d 538, (1986); United States v. Darusmont, 449 U.S. 292, 297, 101 S.Ct. 549, 552, 66 L.Ed.2d 513 (1981).

In the case at bar, the City's reenactment of the ordinance to apply "retroactively" to the time the original ordinance took effect (January 1, 2004) does not constitute a fatal flaw or a violation of any constitutional right. As such, it was appropriate for the lower court to uphold the ordinance and to allow the City to apply retroactively irrespective of any purported notice flaws in connection with the initial adoption of the ordinance.

---

<sup>3</sup>If this Court were to reverse syllabus point 1 of Nine v. Grant Town, as urged by Appellant Cooper, such a reversal should be prospective, insofar as Charleston and other West Virginia municipalities have relied upon this syllabus point in enacting and substantially amending W.Va. Code § 8-13-13 ordinances for a dozen years.

4. **The original notice complied with West Virginia Code § 8-13-13; it contained the full text of the proposed ordinance and it was published as a Class II legal advertisement.**

Even if this Court declines to find the notice challenge moot, the City's original notice complied with the provisions of West Virginia Code § 8-13-13, and other statutory notice provisions in the Code, including those contained in West Virginia Code § 8-11-4 (a) relied upon by Cooper, do not apply. The plain language of West Virginia Code § 8-13-13 specifies that the provisions of West Virginia Code § 8-11-4 (a) do not apply to fees enacted under the authority granted to municipalities under West Virginia Code § 8-13-13.

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